ECONSTOR Make Your Publications Visible.

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Buch, Claudia M.; Heinrich, Ralph P.; Piazolo, Daniel

Working Paper — Digitized Version Southern enlargement of the European Union and capital account liberalization: Lessons for Central and Eastern Europe

Kiel Working Paper, No. 871

Provided in Cooperation with:

Kiel Institute for the World Economy – Leibniz Center for Research on Global Economic Challenges

Suggested Citation: Buch, Claudia M.; Heinrich, Ralph P.; Piazolo, Daniel (1998) : Southern enlargement of the European Union and capital account liberalization: Lessons for Central and Eastern Europe, Kiel Working Paper, No. 871, Kiel Institute of World Economics (IfW), Kiel

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/47025

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU

Kieler Arbeitspapiere Kiel Working Papers

KIEL WORKING PAPER NO. 871

Southern Enlargement of the European Union and Capital Account Liberalization: Lessons for Central and Eastern Europe

> by Claudia M. Buch, Ralph P. Heinrich, Daniel Piazolo



Institut für Weltwirtschaft an der Universität Kiel The Kiel Institute of World Economics

ISSN 0342 - 0787

Kiel Institute of World Economics D-24100 Kiel, Germany

KIEL WORKING PAPER NO. 871

Southern Enlargement of the European Union and Capital Account Liberalization: Lessons for Central and Eastern Europe

by

Claudia M. Buch, Ralph P. Heinrich, Daniel Piazolo

July 1998

848NS

The authors themselves, not the Kiel Institute of World Economics, are solely responsible for the contents and distribution of each Kiel Working Paper.

Since the series involves manuscripts in a preliminary form, interested readers are requested to direct criticisms and suggestions directly to the authors and to clear any quotation with them.

Southern Enlargement of the European Union and Capital Account Liberalization: Lessons for Central and Eastern Europe*

by

Claudia M. Buch, Ralph P. Heinrich, Daniel Piazolo Kiel Institute of World Economics

Abstract

The integration of the central and eastern European countries into the international capital markets has been and will be determined by the process of European Union (EU) integration. Our analysis shows that southern and eastern European countries already appear to be surprisingly similar regarding FDI flows from EU members. The central and eastern European countries, however, are likely to attract increased portfolio flows in the years to come. We argue that membership alone in a regional arrangement like the EU is neither sufficient for sustained capital inflows nor is it the guarantee for increased investment activities. Rather, domestic economic policy has to change in accordance: Liberalization matters, not only membership.

JEL Classification: F 15, F 21, F 32, F 43.

Key Words: Capital Account Liberalization; European Union Enlargement; Capital Flows; Eastern Europe; Economic Growth.

Mailing address: Kiel Institute of World Economics, Düsternbrooker Weg 120, D – 24105 Kiel, Phone: *431 / 8814-332 (-263, -205), Fax: *431 / 85853, E-Mail: cbuch@ifw.uni-kiel.de, Heinrich@ifw.uni-kiel.de, DPiazolo@ifw.uni-kiel.de

This paper has been prepared in the context of the ACE-Project "The Determinants of Financial Flows in the EU and the Associated States of Central and Eastern Europe and the Implications for Enlargement". The authors would like to thank Susanne Lapp and the participants of an ACE workshop for most helpful comments on an earlier draft. All remaining errors are solely our own.

Contents

1. THE ISSUE	1
2. CAPITAL ACCOUNT LIBERALIZATION AND GROWTH	3
2.1 What is Special About Enlargement?	4
2.2 How can Economic Growth be Explained?	7
2.3 Is there a Case for Capital Controls?	11
3. ENLARGEMENT AND CAPITAL FLOWS — THE STYLIZED	
FACTS	15
3.1 Effectiveness of Capital Controls	18
3.2 Structure of Capital Flows	20
3.3 Southern versus Eastern Europe	24
3.4 German Capital Exports	28
3.5 Market Opportunities and Portfolio Choice	36
4. ENLARGEMENT, INVESTMENT, AND GROWTH	47
5. THE MESSAGE FOR THE TRANSITION ECONOMIES	54
6. REFERENCES	57

List of Tables

Table 1 —	Liberalization of Capital Flows by the EU's Southern Members17
Table 2 —	Capital Inflows and Investment Pre- and Post-Accession to the EU21
Table 3 —	Structure of Total Capital Inflows 1975-1996
Table 4 —	Share (in Percent) of Southern and Eastern Europe in Germany's Gross Capital Exports 1971-1997
Table 5 —	Monthly Bond and Equity Returns in Eastern and Western Europe 1994-1998
Table 6 —	Unit Root Tests for European Stock Market Indices 1994-199844
Table 7 —	Cointegration of Stock Markets in Europe with the German Stock Market

List of Graphs

,

. .

Graph 1 —	Net Capital Inflows in Percent of GDP 1975-1995	22
Graph`2 —	Gross Capital Inflows in Percent of GDP 1975-1995	22
Graph 3 —	Total Capital Inflows (billion US-Dollar)1975-1996	27
Graph 4 —	German Net Capital Exports (billion DM) 1971-1997	30
Graph 5 —	German Gross Capital Exports by Region (billion DM) 1971-1997	33
Graph 6 —	GDP Growth 1970-1995	48
Graph 7 —	Fixed Investment in Percent of GDP 1970-1996	48
Graph 8 —	Convergence in the European Union 1960-1997	51

1. The Issue

The future integration of the transition economies of central and eastern Europe into the international capital market will to a great degree be shaped by the process of European Union (EU) enlargement. At least for the capital markets of the more advanced transition economies, the White Book of the EU and the Agenda 2000 have important implications. Most importantly, membership in the EU requires the abolition of remaining capital controls (except for episodes of severe macroeconomic imbalances) and postulates the adoption of common capital market and banking regulations, notably of the EU's Second Banking Directive. Because the eastern enlargement of the EU shares many similarities with the process of southern enlargement, it is useful to study the effects that the latter has had for the integration of those new members into international capital flows.

This contribution starts by giving a short account of why southern enlargement differed from other liberalization periods and why it is of particular relevance for the new members. It then looks at potential links between capital account liberalization and growth, derives the stylized facts of enlargement, and attempts to explain the lack of re-

semblance of the expected and actual integration effects. Finally, the conclusions for the new candidates for EU-membership are drawn.

We find that the southern EU members and the transition economies recently have appeared to be surprisingly similar with regard to the volume and structure of FDI. In order to isolate intra-EU capital flows, we specifically look at capital imports from Germany. In the early 1990s, when Germany was a net capital importer overall, net capital flows from Germany into the two regions were positive. Also, the structure of German foreign direct investment looks more similar for the two groups of countries than for the rest of Europe. The main difference between the two regions is the greater importance of portfolio investment for the southern states. Yet, as the transition process continues, there is quite a potential for increased portfolio flows to central and eastern Europe as market opportunities still differ quite substantially from those in more developed market economies.

The fact that net capital flows into the southern economies do not appear to be directly linked to the process of enlargement as such points to the hypothesis that membership alone in a regional arrangement like the European Union¹ cannot guarantee increased investment

¹ Throughout the paper the term European Union will be also used as a synonym for the predecessor European Community.

activities and accelerated growth. Domestic economic policy has to change in accordance with the commitments arising from the regional arrangement to foster a sustainable development of the economy. Therefore, the main conclusion of this contribution and consequently the message for the central and eastern European transition economies is that reforms at the EU level need to be accompanied by structural reforms at the national level: liberalization matters, not only membership.

2. Capital Account Liberalization and Growth

Capital account liberalization and structural reforms at the national level have not been a unique experience of the new southern members of the EU.² Many developing countries have embarked upon encompassing reform and liberalization programs, hereby spurring growth

² We restrict ourselves predominantly to the analysis of Greece, Spain, and Portugal which in 1981 (Greece) and 1986, respectively, joined the EU. It would also be interesting to compare the experience of these new member states to that of Ireland which has made remarkable achievements in converging to EU-levels of per capita income. The main reason why we confine our analysis mainly to the southern members is the fact that Ireland joined the EU already in the early 1970s. Ireland's experiences with integration were made in a completely different external environment, in particular with regard to international capital markets, which complicates a comparison with later enlargements. We include Ireland only at the end for the analysis whether the Gross Domestic Product per capita of the "Four Poor" have converged towards the average of all 15 EU members. For an encompassing analysis see Laaser (1997) who argues that Ireland established sound economic policies only quite some time after becoming a member of the EU. Hence, the country has been able to reap the rewards from a liberal market economy, from EU transfers, and from the common European market only within the last years.

and investment. Yet, EU membership is an important goal for the transition economies of central and eastern Europe, evidently so because the countries hope to reap benefits which reforms at the national level alone would not bring about. This suggests that EU membership has special characteristics and that studying its implications holds important lessons for the new members.

2.1 What is Special About Enlargement?

The experience with the southern enlargement of the EU and the accompanied liberalization of capital flows indeed differs from other liberalization experiences. During the process of EU enlargement, capital account liberalization and other elements of economic integration have been combined. These other elements comprise the creation of a common market, the participation in the structural funds and in the CAP of the EU as well as the adoption of a common legal and institutional framework. This combination can have positive feedback effects on the success of capital account liberalization. Combining capital account liberalization and a broader adjustment package may ease the adjustment to adverse external shocks. Integration potentially reduces uncertainty about future investment conditions. *Ceteris paribus*, this

should contribute to a greater inflow of irreversible, long-term investment because the value of postponing investment is reduced. By tying the hands of domestic policymakers, integration and enlargement make a reversal of policies in the future less likely, hereby reducing uncertainty and promoting investment. However, the access to transfer payments which EU accession entails might also undermine the resolve of new members to introduce reforms which would promote economic growth.

There are several reasons that justify a comparison of southern and eastern enlargement of the EU. Apart from similarity in expected integration effects as mentioned above, the two groups of countries will have similar comparative advantages within an enlarged Union. Both regions industrialized late compared to the core EU-countries and became integrated into the international markets during the second half of the last century. Hence, they shared similarities prior to the take-over of the communist regime. Later on, while the economies of central and eastern Europe were dominated during the socialist period by the state, the southern European countries had – until the 1980s – an overinflated and cumbersome state that played the principal role in the economy. It might also be objected to our approach that eastern enlargement takes place under entirely different conditions than southern enlargement because the Single Market has already been created. We agree that the pre-conditions for membership have changed. The conclusion that we draw from this is, however, that lessons regarding policies needed for a successful enlargement become more important in the new environment.

Therefore, studying the process of southern enlargement is highly relevant for the transition economies. It allows a first assessment of integration effects and of the magnitude of capital flows that can be expected. In order to limit the analysis, the paper will mainly look at the impact of integration and of capital account liberalization for the structure and volume of financial flows. We will look at the capital inflows of southern Europe and of central and eastern Europe from all partner countries as well as at the German capital exports into the two regions since this allows us to isolate developments within Europe to the best possible degree. Some tentative conclusions regarding the impact of liberalization for investment and growth will be drawn.

7

2.2 How can Economic Growth be Explained?

From a theoretical point of view, the liberalization of capital flows can have positive static and dynamic effects on domestic investment and growth. Most importantly, liberalizing capital flows allows a country to draw on foreign savings to finance domestic investment. Neoclassical growth accounting would predict that mobile capital flows primarily out of capital-abundant developed economies into capital-strapped developing and transition economies. This is because by the law of diminishing returns marginal returns to capital in the latter should exceed marginal returns in the former. By lifting capital controls, the world capital stock is allocated optimally, and growth rates increase until a new steady state level of income is reached.

Yet, the traditional growth models cannot convincingly account for the fact that capital is typically found to be much less mobile internationally than the standard theory assumes. Lucas (1990) has used a model incorporating a human capital externality to explain why capital flows to developing countries have – at least until very recently – remained limited to an extent incompatible with neoclassical growth accounting.³ He

³ This is true even when taking into account that capital is actually far from perfectly mobile internationally (Feldstein and Horioka 1980).

argues that the return to physical capital will *ceteris paribus* be highest where the endowment with human capital is highest, and that human capital creates a positive externality which disproportionately increases the return to physical capital. The reason for capital flows to developing countries remaining limited would then be that the rates of return to physical capital in developing countries are constrained by low endowments with human capital. Thus, a lack of human capital is able to explain a lack of capital inflows. Conversely then, relative abundance of human capital should be expected to attract foreign capital.

A corollary of this framework is that investment into human capital can increase a country's attractiveness for foreign investors. Presumably, however, these investments into human capital must be financed from domestic rather than foreign savings (Barro et al. 1995). This is because securing access to external financial sources for investment into human capital is already a difficult task in a domestic setting. International borrowing for investment into human capital is virtually impossible. This can explain why capital mobility – including mobility of human capital – is less than perfect, and why convergence remains less pronounced than neoclassical growth theory would predict. At the same time, creating a legal and institutional framework

conducive to international financing of investment into human capital would be growth-promoting.

These results point to the beneficial effects of EU enlargement. The new member states are already relatively well-endowed with human capital, and enlargement brings about a more stable institutional environment. Incidentally, and putting measurement problems aside, the data suggest that the transition economies have a higher endowment in human capital than the southern members of the EU (Barro and Lee 1996) A priori, this would suggest that a lack of access to skilled and trained personnel is not an obstacle to foreign investment into these economies.

One shortcoming of the standard neo-classical model, however, is its inability to explain long-run economic growth. Growth merely occurs as a one-time adjustment to a new steady state; long-run growth is bound to be zero. Short-run growth comes only in response to exogenous shocks such as technological innovations, increases in the savings rate, or an abolition of capital controls.

Dynamic growth effects can be captured in models of endogenous growth. One implication of this class of models is that technological innovations or human capital accumulation can give rise to a positive

externality so that the marginal returns to investment need not decrease. Accumulation of technological knowledge or of human capital can arise endogenously and can be a source of sustained long-run growth. Baldwin and Forslid (1996) argue that the growth effects of a policy measure depend on the incipient increase in Tobin's q, i.e., the ratio of the market value of capital and its replacement costs. Their results are driven by the fact that investment in knowledge capital reduces the marginal costs of production, giving rise to worldwide economies of scale. In particular, they show that financial liberalization in the form of (i) the liberalization of the market entry for new domestic or foreign banks, and/or (ii) the liberalization of international financial transactions, which lowers the marginal costs of domestic financial intermediaries to make loans abroad, are growth-promoting. Because of the various distortions in the domestic banking systems both of the southern members prior to enlargement and in the transition economies, this mechanism could be particularly relevant during enlargement.4

⁴ See Carninal et al. and Borges (1990) for studies of the Spanish and Portuguese financial system. An overview of banking reforms in transition economies is given in Buch (1996).

2.3 Is there a Case for Capital Controls?

While the benefits from integrating into the international capital market seem to be relatively obvious, public and academic debate about the necessity to restrict (short-term) capital flows abounds. Not least in response to the recent turmoil on Asia's foreign exchange and financial markets, such outright restrictions (Tobin taxes on short-term capital flows, for example), are more and more often proposed as a cushion against highly volatile financial flows. While we cannot go into a comprehensive discussion of the costs and benefits of such measures, two approaches which call into question the benefits of capital controls are worthwhile mentioning:

First, Labán and Larrain (1997) have shown that abolishing controls on capital outflows may increase net inflows because the liberalization of capital flows lowers the irreversibility of investment. In a situation of general uncertainty about the future, foreign investors gain from exploiting an option value of waiting, from postponing their investment, and from waiting for better information about future policies. Incidentally, the fact that an option value of waiting exists can explain why marginal rates of returns across countries are not equalized even in the absence of capital controls. Hence, the paper by Labán and Larrain predicts an

increase in investment in response to (i) an abolition of capital controls and (ii) reduction of uncertainty about the future. This finding directly links to the issue of EU enlargement because enlargement implies both reduced barriers to the free flow of capital *and* a reduction of uncertainty, and should thus lead to higher investment.

Second, Bartolini and Drazen (1997) show that capital controls can have negative effects on total investment because they send negative signals about future policies to investors. Their result hinges on the assumption that information about the type of a government is asymmetrically distributed between investors and governments. Governments can raise revenue by taxing the capital stock in their country, and they differ with respect to the alternative sources of income to which they have access. In this model, the imposition of capital controls sends a negative signal to investors that governments lack alternative sources of income and are thus likely to impose controls in the future. Conversely, abolishing controls on capital outflows sends a positive signal and increases net capital inflows.

The plea for capital controls is oftentimes justified on the grounds that controls on short-term capital discourage highly volatile portfolio capital flows while not tampering with "healthy" and sustainable flows

of foreign direct investment. Portfolio capital flows, it is argued, do not necessarily add to the capital stock of an economy and are, in addition, easily reversed.

This argument has some truth to it because the most important channel through which new technologies can be introduced is FDI by transnational corporations. Hence, inflows of FDI not only foster economic growth by supplementing domestic savings, but also by providing access to new technologies. FDI may result directly in the importing of more advanced technologies, but also in the transfer of managerial and production-oriented skills. In addition, FDI may generate positive externalities in that domestic firms may be able to acquire new knowledge while supplying inputs to the foreign firm or while competing with it for customers (Bertschek 1995). This in turn may stimulate additional domestic investment. However, the extent to which new foreign technology can be absorbed by the host economy, be it directly via domestic subsidiaries of foreign transnational corporations or indirectly via spillovers to domestic firms, must be expected to depend on the stock of human capital present in the host economy, as human capital and advanced technology tend to be complementary inputs (Lichtenberg 1993). Empirical studies suggest that inward FDI can have positive

i

externalities for countries with a relatively good human capital endowment (Borensztein et al. 1994) and in countries which follow an exportpromoting development strategy (Balasubramanyam et al. 1996).

However, it would be grossly misleading to attribute positive growth effects to FDI flows alone. Foreign direct investment contributes only a relatively small share to global capital flows. In 1996, the share of FDI inflows in global capital inflows was only 16 percent (IMF 1998a). Portfolio and other forms of capital transfers – notably bank credits – can also contribute to economic growth because they allow worldwide portfolios to be optimized, individual investment risks to be lowered, and – to the extent that savers are risk averse – overall savings to increase.

In addition to the better diversification of risk that the liberalization of portfolio capital allows, the presence of foreign investors in the home market may be to the benefit of the home country because market liquidity increases. Typically, bond and stock markets in emerging market economies are relatively illiquid. Hence, due to a low trading volume, asset prices may be quite volatile, and investors may find themselves unable to divest assets unless they accept high discounts. Access to international bank credit can furthermore enhance the quality of

domestic investment if foreign banks have better risk assessment skills than the incumbent domestic banks.

To sum up, our brief review of the literature on capital account liberalization leads us to expect (i) an inflow of capital in response to the abolition of capital controls, (ii) a net flow of funds towards countries with high real rates of return on capital, particularly if the quality of human capital is high, and (iii) a relatively high share of long-term investment (such as FDI) in countries with credible policies.⁵

3. Enlargement and Capital Flows — the Stylized Facts

Both economic integration with the EU and the transformation of formerly centrally planned economies are important structural changes which can be expected to exert a significant impact on cross-border capital flows. After accession, higher rates of return in the new member countries should trigger more capital imports and should lead to higher investment ratios. Until the new steady state is reached, investment and growth should increase.

⁵ Buch et al. (1998) show that governments can influence the structure of capital flows towards relatively more long-term investment by implementing credible stabilization policies and institutional reforms.

Prior to their accession to the EU and the concomitant liberalization of capital flows, the new southern members were only loosely integrated into the international capital markets. For the time between 1960 and 1988, Argimón and Roldán (1994) find capital mobility to be substantially lower for Spain, France, Italy, Denmark, Belgium, and Ireland than for Germany, the Netherlands, and the UK. Presumably, Greece and Portugal would fall into the first group of countries which exhibited low capital mobility.

For none of the southern EU-members has entry into the EU been paralleled by a full abolition of capital controls (Table 1). This is a feature which sets southern and eastern enlargement partly apart – the new eastern members have already liberalized capital flows to a quite substantial degree (Backé 1996). According to the annual report on exchange rate restrictions published by the IMF, the transition economies under review had indeed imposed less controls on capital account items in 1995 that the southern Europeans in the early 1990s (IMF 1996). Although a simple comparison of these indicators has several flaws – primarily because of the lack of qualitative information on

EU-wide	
197 9 –1990	capital controls in large member countries were fully abolished: 1979 (United Kingdom), 1981 (Germany), 1989 (France), 1990 (Italy)
1983	White Policy Paper on financial integration
1988	proposal for a second banking directive
1992	second Banking Directive becomes effective; member states have to re- move all remaining barriers to trade
Greece '	
1981, January 1	EU membership
1985, November 22	authorization to take safeguard measures through the EEC
1988, November 29	safeguard clause extended through end 1989
1989, December 17	derogation extended for another 6 months
1994, May 16	all remaining restrictions on capital flows abolished
Portugal	
1986, January 1	EU membership
1989, March 28	foreign travel allowances relaxed
1989, September 20	controls on purchase of foreign securities relaxed
1989, December 31	inward FDI not subject to permission
1990, March 28	acquisition of foreign securities eased
1991, June 14	outward portfolio investment and FDI liberalized
1992, April	membership in the EMS
1992, September 1	compulsory deposit requirement on foreign exchange accounts abolished
1992, December 16	all remaining restrictions abolished
Spain	
1986, January 1	EU membership
1986, November 7	controls on outward FDI are relaxed
1987, October 20	controls on foreign currency operations of commercial banks are relaxed
1988, December 22	outward FDI and trade in medium and long-term foreign securities liberal- ized
1989, January 31	reserve requirement on foreign financial credits imposed (non-remunerated)
1989, July	membership in the EMS
1989, September 26	residents can open ECU accounts
1990, April 4	further relaxation capital flows
1991, April 16	opening of F/X accounts eased
1992, February 1	all remaining restrictions abolished
1992, September 24	reintroduction of short-term controls
1992, November 24	all remaining restrictions abolished

Table 1 — Liberalization of Capital Flows by the EU's Southern Members

Source: Bakker (1994), Gros (1993).

the importance of these restrictions – the pattern is unlikely to reverse if additional information was taken into account.⁶

3.1 Effectiveness of Capital Controls

The liberalization of capital flows in the EU has proceeded gradually (Table 1). Capital controls in the large member countries have fully been abolished only in the late 1970s. New members of the Union, in contrast, in principle have to provide for a free flow of capital within the EU. While safeguard measures in times of balance of payments problems may be introduced, pre-conditions for EU membership in the field of financial markets have become much more stringent and demanding.

The new southern members have made use of the option to retain capital controls during the first years of their membership. After becoming members of the EU in 1981 (Greece) and 1986 (Portugal and Spain), the countries retained controls on capital flows up to 1992 (Spain and Portugal) and 1994 (Greece), respectively. Controls on capital flows outside Europe were even maintained until 1993 in Spain

⁶ A more appropriate measure of the presence and effectiveness of capital controls would be empirical tests of the interest parity conditions between foreign and domestic interest rates as well as between onshore and offshore rates. However, lacking sufficiently long time series, primarily for forward rates, such tests have not been feasible.

and 1995 in Greece (IMF 1996). The potential new eastern members, in contrast, have a relatively liberal capital account regime already prior to their EU-accession.⁷ A priori, the effects of abolishing remaining controls in the context of EU membership can thus be expected to be smaller than for the southern members.

Several papers have studied the effectiveness of capital controls. Baccechetta (1996) finds that controls on capital outflows have been effective in Spain prior to 1986 but that the effectiveness of capital controls has vanished subsequently.⁸ For Greece, Christodoulakis and Karamouzis (1993) likewise find that capital controls have been temporarily effective at best. Ötker and Pazarbasioglu (1994) argues that capital controls have allowed Ireland and Spain to buy some time during episodes of speculative crises but – again – have not been effective over longer time periods. Gros (1993) compares the reasons for the maintenance of capital controls across Europe. He shows that Portugal and Spain have used capital controls mainly to prevent capital inflows from counteracting restrictive monetary policies. In France and Italy, in contrast, capital controls were used to keep interest rates low

⁷ See Backé (1996), Buch and Heinrich (1997a, 1997b).

⁸ Controls on capital inflows were not binding between August 1986 and April 1987, were binding from April 1987 to April 1990, and again relatively ineffective afterwards.

through expansionary monetary policies. In both cases, capital controls have not been effective in the long-run. Yet, they have been effective in the short-run in Portugal and Spain.

3.2 Structure of Capital Flows

For the southern members, the impact of integration on (net) capital inflows has not been uniform (Table 2, Graphs 1 and 2). In particular, capital inflows do not appear to be directly linked to membership in the EU. As for Greece, capital inflows relative to GDP were only 0.4 percentage points higher in the post- than in the pre-accession phase. Inflows peaked a few years after accession, in 1985. Similarly, capital inflows to Portugal seem to have responded not to EU accession directly, but to the onset of capital account liberalization three years later. But even at that time, capital inflows did not reach the level of the years 1981-82, when they exceeded 10 percent of GDP. In Spain, in contrast, capital inflows relative to GDP increased already in the year prior to accession. Neither in Portugal nor in Spain were the high initial levels of inflows sustained. Taking into account that data on net capital inflows include transfers from the EU, public capital flows have thus at

least to a certain degree tended to substitute rather than to complement private capital flows.

	Pre-accession	Post-accession				
Gross fixed investment / GDP [%]						
Greece	23.6	20.9				
Portugal	26.5	23.3				
Spain	21.3	21.7				
Capital inflows / GDP [%]						
Greece	4.5	4.9				
Portugal	4.1	1.3				
Spain	2.2	2.9				
FDI / Gross inflows [%]						
Greece	29.1	25.4				
Portugal	4.5	30.6				
Spain	30.4	28.1				

Table 2 — Capital Inflows and Investment Pre- and Post-Accession to the EU

For Greece, the pre-accession period comprises the time between 1975 and 1980. For Portugal and Spain, the years 1975-1986 are considered. The post-accession period starts in the first year of membership and runs through 1994 for Portugal, 1995 for Spain, and 1995 for Greece (gross fixed investment: 1996).

Source: IMF (1998a), World Bank (1996, 1997); author's calculations.



Graph 1 — Net Capital Inflows in Percent of GDP 1975-1995

Source: IMF (1998b), World Bank (1997)

20 15 10 5 0 -5 1975 1979 1983 1987 1981 1985

Graph 2 — Gross Capital Inflows in Percent of GDP 1975-1995

Source: IMF (1998b), World Bank (1997)

One possible explanation for the surge of inflows into Portugal in the early 1980s is the fact that a right-wing government was elected in 1980 which may have increased the credibility of reforms (Gibson and Tsakalotos 1993). In addition, Portugal and Spain were fairly active in preparing their membership in the Union after they had applied for membership in 1977 (Laaser and Schrader 1994). Greece, in contrast, which had already applied in 1975, seems not to have utilized the time until accession for an active adjustment of regulations and institutions to EU-standards.

During the 20 years between 1975 and 1995, foreign direct investment contributed about one fourth to total capital inflows in southern Europe. While this share has been relatively constant over time for Greece, Portugal and Spain experienced above-average inflows of FDI in the 1980s (Table 3). This points to a positive impact of EUmembership on imports of FDI. Portfolio investment has been negligible in Greece, while contributing a rising share of capital inflows in the case of Spain (the share of equity securities being falling).

	Г <u></u> Г							
	1975–80	1981–90	1991–95					
FDI / gross inflows [9	%]							
Greece	29.1	26.1	24.7					
Portugal	12.9	35.9	18.8					
Spain	21.7	41.1	22.7					
Portfolio investment ,	/ gross inflows [%]		×					
Greece	-0.0	0.0	0.0					
Portugal	0.3	29.3	19.3					
Spain	0.2	24.2	42.5					
Equity securities / po	rtfolio investment [%]							
Greece	44.1	39.8	58.3					
Portugal	1.1	28.1	20.8					
Spain	23.6	68.8	19.8					
Other liabilities / gros	Other liabilities / gross inflows [%]							
Greece	70.9	73.9	75.4					
Portugal	87.4	34.9	61.9					
Spain	78.1	34.7	34.9					

Table 3 - Structure of Total Capital Inflows 1975-1996

Source: IMF (1998a)

3.3 Southern versus Eastern Europe

This section compares the capital flows for the two regions southern Europe ("EU South" – Spain, Portugal, and Greece) and central and eastern Europe ("CEE3" – the Czech Republic, Hungary, and Poland). Concerning total capital inflows it is striking, that CEE3 has received only a small fraction compared to the funds directed towards the EU

ï

South (Graph 3a). This holds true for all time periods since 1975, including the ones after the beginning of the transition process in CEE3. However, a more detailed analysis reveals considerable differences for FDI, portfolio, and other flows⁹ (Graph 3b, 3c and 3d).

The beginning of the reform process around 1990 in the transition countries marks the start of rising inflows of FDI. The establishment of new economic policies has encouraged investors with a long-term perspective to commit their resources to projects in the transition countries. In 1995, CEE3 attracted more FDI than the EU South (Graph 3b). As discussed in the previous part about the structure of capital flows to the EU South, EU membership had a significant impact on FDI inflows to these countries. However, Graph 3b reveals that FDI flows to the EU South started to decrease with the beginning of the reform process in CEE3. The attractiveness for FDI of a region or a country is always depending on the relative position within the pool of potential candidates. Eveballing the graph appears to indicate that some of the FDI funds going to CEE3 were diverted from the EU South. Nevertheless, it is difficult to determine, how much FDI one should expect under "normal circumstances". It might well be that a

⁹ Other capital flows comprise bank loans and deposits, supplier credits etc.

country experiences high FDI inflows after the establishment of attractive investment conditions until the "normal" stock of FDI has been reached. Consequently, one should expect a decline of the FDI inflows towards the level sufficient to compensate for depreciation and necessary "FDI–widening" in response to economic growth. The FDI inflow in the EU South rose significantly from 1984 until 1990 and has declined since then. Following the above argument, this might be quite "normal", and one could expect a similar leveling off for the transition countries after the FDI stock has reached its "normal" level.

In terms of portfolio and other flows, CEE3 has never reached the amounts going to the EU South (Graph 3c and 3d). The beginning of the transition had a significant impact on the portfolio flows heading towards CEE3, but it did not markedly affect the pattern of the other capital flows. Portfolio flows towards the CEE3 have started at the beginning of the 1990s and have remained positive since then, whereas the other flows have continued to meander from positive to negative values.





Source: IMF (1998b)

3.4 German Capital Exports

In order to isolate capital flows within Europe which – arguably – are more likely to be affected by integration effects than those from outside the region, we now look at German capital exports only. Between 1990 and 1997, southern and eastern Europe accounted for 4.3 and 1.7 percent of Germany's gross capital exports, respectively (Table 4). This was more than in the 1980s but – in the case of eastern Europe – not more than in the 1970s when these economies received quite substantial amounts of foreign loans.

	1971-1979	1980-1989	1990-1997
Southern Europe ^a		<u></u>	
Total	3.70	1.61	4.26 [°]
FDI	9.91	5.99	4.47
Portfolio	2.84	1.94	5.67
Credits	1.88	0.41	3.29
Eastern Europeb			
Total	2.84	0.72	1.71
FDI	0.00	0.06	5.85
Portfolio	1.22	0.51	0.92
Credits	3.90	1.00	0.48
a) Greece, Portugal, and	l Spain. — b) Czech Repu	blic, Hungary, and Poland	t.

Table 4 — Share (in Percent) of Southern and Eastern Europe in Germany's Gross Capital Exports 1971-1997

Source: Deutsche Bundesbank (1998)

As expected, total German *net capital exports* are strongly influenced by the re-unification (Graph 4). Following unification, sizable capital exports of the previous years turned into capital imports which have gradually become smaller through 1997. Interestingly, Germany has remained a net exporter of foreign direct investment throughout. Capital imports have mainly come from industrialized countries. Net capital exports to Spain, Portugal, and central and eastern Europe, in contrast, have by and large been positive throughout. This, by itself, suggests that the motives of Germans to invest abroad are more similar for the southern EU-members and the transition economies than for these countries and other industrialized economies.

Net capital exports do not show a uniform EU-effect. While for Spain net capital imports from Germany increased with membership, this effect was not clearly visible for Portugal and Greece. In the case of Spain, however, inflows of FDI peaked only a couple of years after EU accession. For Greece, membership has hardly had a discernible effect on capital flows for about five years.



Graph 4 — German Net Capital Exports (billion DM) 1971-1997



In billion current D-Mark. CEE = transition economies of central and eastern Europe. Source: Deutsche Bundesbank (1998)

For the transition economies, in contrast, the start of the reform process has had a quite significant impact on capital flows. Initially, however, the share of FDI was minor, and FDI came to dominate only since 1994. With respect to portfolio capital, the region has been a net exporter of capital vis-à-vis Germany during the transition period.

At least two explanations for the relatively weak effect of southern enlargement on the volume of capital (in)flows are conceivable. *First*, an anticipation effect may have been at work. As integration has been expected prior to the actual enlargement, some positive integration effects have occurred already before membership became effective. *Second*, because capital controls were maintained during a prolonged period after accession, the irreversibility of investment may not have declined enough. In addition, the possibility to re-introduce controls in times of macroeconomic distress may have undermined investors' confidence in a liberal regime. Hence, de facto liberalization may have been insufficient.

Looking at the *gross capital exports* of Germany and comparing absolute values for the EU South (Spain, Portugal, Greece) and the transition economies (including Russia) shows that although gross flows to eastern Europe have been larger overall than flows to southern Europe, the trends are similar (Graph 5). The CEE3 (Hungary, Czech Republic and Poland) have received the bulk of FDI going into eastern

Graph 5 — German Gross Capital Exports by Region (billion DM) 1971-1997



In billion current D-Mark. CEE = transition economies of central and eastern Europe, CEE3 = Czech Republic, Hungary, and Poland

Source: Deutsche Bundesbank (1998).

Europe. Perhaps more surprisingly, the overall volume of FDI inflows into the CEE3 since 1992 has been larger than the flows to southern Europe. Notice that these figures are influenced by the greater proximity of Germany to central Europe. As the aggregated data have shown, the flow of total FDI to southern Europe was substantially higher than for eastern Europe. In the 1990s, eastern Europe has received 5.9 percent of Germany's FDI abroad as opposed to 4.5 percent for southern Europe (Table 4). Again, the integration effect for southern Europe seems to be weaker than the liberalization effect for the CEEs.

The picture looks entirely different for portfolio investment. Whereas southern Europe has been a gross importer of portfolio capital, the CEEs have temporarily even been gross exporters. "Other" flows are substantially different for the CEE3 than for the CEEs, mainly reflecting lending to Russia.

Data on the structure of the stock of German FDI abroad reveals that Portugal and Spain seem to have more in common with the CEEs than with the rest of Europe.¹⁰ While less than 30 percent of Germany's FDI in the EU has been in manufacturing in 1995, the respective shares are

¹⁰ Comparable data for Greece have not been available. Data referred to in the following paragraph were taken from Deutsche Bundesbank (1997).

62 and 66 percent for southern and eastern Europe. For the EU as a whole, financial intermediation and insurance is relatively important as well (40 percent of total stock); for southern and eastern Europe, these sectors account only for about 9 percent of the stock of FDI.

Overall, the amount of foreign direct investment which the three advanced transition economies of central and eastern Europe have already attracted seems large relative to the aggregate level of FDI in southern Europe (Portugal and Spain). This comparison confirms the findings by Brenton et al. (1998). While the transition economies may already be close to their potential with respect to FDI, their access to foreign portfolio capital is still minor. In the past, external debt finance of in many cases – mainly public lenders has been important for some countries. In the future, private capital, and in particular portfolio capital, is likely to gain in importance. The creation of a single market for capital, as required for EU-membership, may be particularly conducive to this process. For the less advanced reform states of central and eastern Europe which are not covered in this paper, in contrast, the prediction is less clear-cut. As all countries have already embarked on reform programs of some sort, future reforms would need to have substantial signaling effects in order to yield effects on imports of FDI.

The case of Greece shows that investors' confidence need not necessarily be enhanced through outside commitments.

In summary, the capital flows from Germany and the flows from all countries towards the EU South and CEE differ: For Germany, CEE had a greater importance than for the total of all partner countries. As mentioned before, this might be determined through the proximity of Germany to the CEE countries. Furthermore, historical links and some language advantages (German was the only "Western" language that could be easily learned within the Socialist bloc, and unified Germany has many inhabitants that had to learn Russian at school) might have helped in establishing closer links. With regard to portfolio capital, however, the picture looks similar in that both flows from Germany and total flows of portfolio capital towards the EU South exceed those to CEE by a substantial margin.

3.5 Market Opportunities and Portfolio Choice

The previous discussion has shown that, in quantity terms, the degree of portfolio investment in the transition economies is below that of the southern European economies. This may not seem very surprising, considering that bonds and equities have only fairly recently become available in the transition economies and that foreigners face legal and institutional obstacles when trying to acquire those assets. Hence, current portfolio structures are to a substantial degree distorted by institutional factors rather than reflecting market opportunities. Despite these concerns, the present section takes a closer look at the market opportunities foreign investors are facing.

Portfolio theory suggests that optimal portfolio choices are determined by the risk and the return of financial assets as well as the correlation of rates of return between individual assets. Buch and Lapp (1998) calculate annual data for bond and stock markets in Spain and Euroland and relates these to market performance in Germany.¹¹ For the purpose of our analysis, it is particularly of interest to see whether correlations between bond and equity returns in Spain and Germany have increased after the unification of the capital market in Europe, i.e., after 1992. The data reveal that this has indeed been the case for bond market returns, independent from being calculated in local currency, D-Mark or hedged returns. With regard to hedged and local currency re-

¹¹ The results of Buch and Lapp also reveal that market opportunities seem to play a relatively limited role in investment decisions as investment patterns display a very strong home or currency bias. Accordingly, investment in emerging markets accounts only for a small fraction of total asset holdings. Yet, there is no reason to assume that given the small share allocated to emerging markets, the emerging market portfolio itself is not allocated on the basis of market opportunities.

turns, correlations between Spanish and German stock returns have also increased while this is hardly the case for D-Mark returns. *Ceteris paribus*, the incentive of Germans to invest in Spanish bonds has thus declined with the increasing integration of markets if investors hedge or are interested in local returns.

Table 5 in the Appendix presents similar data for bond and equity returns in three central European economies (Czech Republic, Hungary, and Poland), two southern European countries (Portugal and Spain), as well as for Germany and the United States. Because of the lack of longer-run time series, monthly data have been used. Evidently, the higher frequency of the data leads to greater variation because seasonal factors are not isolated. For bond returns, only data for the years 1996 through 1998 (May) have been available while for stock indices data started in 1994. Monthly returns in local currency (c) were calculated as

(1) Monthly Return_c =
$$\left(\frac{\text{Index}_{t+1}}{\text{Index}_{t}} - 1\right) * 100$$

with t being the current period. Returns in D-Mark were calculated as

(2) Monthly Return_{DM} =
$$\left[\left(\frac{\text{Index}_{t+1}}{\text{Index}_t}\right)\left(\frac{S_t}{S_{t+1}}\right) - 1\right] * 100$$

with S being the spot rate of the respective currency against the D-Mark. Standard deviations are calculated as a measure of volatility.

For stock market returns, there are differences between the performance in local currency and in foreign currency, in particular for the case of Hungary. While returns in Forint were greater during the entire period (1994-1998) than local returns in other currencies (corresponding also to a greater volatility in returns), this difference disappeared if returns were calculated in foreign currency (DM or US-Dollar). Returns on Hungarian bonds were now roughly in line with those in the West. The Czech and the Polish stock markets, in contrast, showed negative returns on average.

Throughout eastern Europe, volatility was higher than in the West. Yet, return correlations were similar when comparing Hungary to southern Europe both relative to returns in Germany and in the US. In view of the similar return performance and the higher volatility, investors would thus not have gained from investing in Hungary rather than in southern Europe. Gains from diversification were higher for the Czech Republic and for Poland. Returns on Czech stocks particularly showed a low correlation to US stock returns.

In the second sub-period (1996-1998) in Western stock markets both returns and return correlations tended to be higher than in the entire sample. Standard deviations had remained fairly unchanged. Returns in eastern Europe were somewhat higher while standard deviations of returns had declined. For the Czech Republic and Poland - not for Hungary –, return correlations both with the German and with the US market were lower than in the entire period. Hence, the potential for risk diversification had increased. During the past three years, stock markets in the Czech Republic and Poland were thus attractive from the point of view of a German or US investor because of their relatively low correlation with Western markets. Yet, substantially lower returns and higher volatility were a potential impediment to portfolio diversification. Conversely, Polish and Czech investors could have gained from investing abroad.

Data for bond market returns have only been available for this second period. While compared to Germany average bond returns were lower in the West than in the East, bonds in Europe generally performed worse than bonds in the US. Likewise, DM-returns on eastern European bonds tended to have higher standard deviations than Western European bonds but were not decidedly different from other European bonds when compared to US bonds. Correlations of Spanish with German bond returns were similar to those of eastern European bond returns while all European bonds showed fairly little correlation to US bonds. From the point of view of a German investor, eastern Europe bond markets thus offered slightly higher risks and returns than Spanish bonds but not really benefits from diversification. For US investors, both eastern and western Europe offered gains from diversification due to low correlations with US bond returns but also much lower returns.

The data presented in Table 5 suggests that there are still substantial differences between stock and bond markets in southern and eastern Europe. While the limited evidence from Portugal and Spain suggests that these markets are already relatively closely integrated with markets in Germany and in the US, this is not the case for eastern markets, in particular in the Czech Republic and in Poland. While there are potential gains from diversification, somewhat lower returns and greater volatility also have to be taken into account. The Hungarian market, in contrast, already looks more like markets in southern Europe than like its eastern European counterparts. The situation on bond markets differs somewhat from these stylized facts because dif-

ferences in risks and returns are not as pronounced. Both eastern and western Europe show fairly low correlations with US bonds.

The above exercise can provide only a fairly stylized picture of the integration of financial markets. In an additional step, we have tested for the degree of cointegration between stock markets. Essentially, cointegration analysis can be viewed as a more sophisticated method of detecting co-movements between the two markets by imposing a causal structure on the data. A close integration of markets would thus imply that the potential for diversification is relatively low.

Similar studies have been made by Linne (1997, 1998). He finds that over the past years, stock markets in eastern Europe were not very closely linked to world portfolios and that there is a potential for portfolio diversification. He also finds that stock returns in the East and the West have been converging but that this process has not necessarily been speeded up by official capital account liberalization. Our approach differs because we use total return indices rather than price indices, because we consider southern European markets as well, and because we only test for cointegration with Germany. Table 6 presents the results of an ADF-Test on a unit root for the logs of the levels and first differences of the stock market indices. Except for the Polish stock index, all indices are I(1). We have then estimated an error correction model (ECM), explaining each of the eastern and southern stock indices by the German stock index and a linear time trend

(3)
$$\Delta I_{t} = \mu + (\overline{\alpha}_{0} - 1) \left[I_{t-1} + \beta I_{t-1}^{*} \right] - \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \overline{\alpha}_{i} \Delta I_{t-i} - \sum_{i=1}^{m-1} \overline{\beta}_{i} \Delta I_{t-i}^{*} + T_{t} + \varepsilon$$

where I = domestic stock index, I* = German stock index, and T = (linear) time trend. A maximum of four lags has been allowed for, and insignificant lags have been dropped. The ECM allows us to test whether there is a stable long-run relationship between these variables (Hansen 1993). It implies that changes in the domestic stock index depend (i) on deviations from long-run-equilibrium, i.e., on the error-correction term in brackets, (ii) on short-run effects of changes in the German and in the domestic stock index, and (iii) on an error term ε . If the coefficient ($\overline{\alpha}_{0}$ -1) is significantly less than zero, the domestic stock index declines (increases) if it has been above (below) its equilibrium level in the previous period. There would thus be a stationary long-run relationship between the domestic and the foreign stock index, i.e., the variables would be cointegrated.

	Levels First Differences			ences	Degree of Integration		
	Specification ^a	t-value	Specificationa	t-value			
Czech Re- public	C,1	-2.42	0	-4.61***	l(1)		
Hungary	T,C,1	-2.11	T,C,1	5.34***	i(1)		
Poland	T,C,3	-3.55**	T,C,0	-7.78**	l(0)		
Germany	T,C,1	-1.19	T,C,1	-5.55***	l(1)		
Portugal	T,C,2	-0.51	T,C,3	-5.42***	l(1)		
Spain	T,C,1	-0.96	T,C,1	-5.15***	l(1)		

Table 6 — Unit Root Tests for European Stock Market Indices 1994-

4	000	
1	330	

The table reports the results of an augmented Dickey-Fuller-Test. A regression has been run for the first difference of each seasonally adjusted variable X, including all exogenous and endogenous variables, on its lagged level and on its first differences The hypothesis that variable X is non-stationary is tested against the hypothesis, i.e., X is stationary. The lag-length has been extended such that the residuals are white noise. A trend (t) and/or a constant term (μ) have been included upon visual inspection of the respective time series. Because under H₀ the LHS variables are non-stationary, standard critical values cannot be used, and the MacKinnon critical values are refered to. If the value of the t-statistic is above the critical level $|t| > |t^*|$, X is at least I(1), i.e., it has to be differenced once to become stationary. Similarly, running the ADF-test for the differenced variables implies a test of H₀. X is I(2). — a) Trend, intercept, lag length. — All variables in logarithms.

The results are presented in Table 7. In terms of statistical significance, there are cointegration relations only between the Hungarian and the Spanish stock index vis-á-vis the German stock index. The significance of the error correction term can not be rejected at the 10percent level of confidence in both cases, and the R²s exceed 0.4 and 0.6, respectively. The relationship between the indices is also significant in economic terms: an increase in the German stock index by 1 percent raises the stock indices in Spain and Hungary by nearly 1.5 and 2 percent, respectively. Results for the other three stock markets are less satisfying from a statistical point of view: there are no significant cointegration relationships at the conventional significance levels, the R²s are much smaller for the Czech Republic and Poland, and the impact of the German stock index is not significant in these two cases. The latter two indicators are somewhat better for Portugal but this equation fails most of the conventional tests on the assumptions of the OLS-model.¹² Notice, however, that the weaker integration of markets, the greater the potential for diversification.

In summary, our analysis has shown that a relatively weak correlation of returns on eastern and western securities' markets, coupled with higher returns in the east should induce investors to increase the share of eastern assets in their portfolios. Higher risks in the east have a countervailing effect, in contrast. Because we have not explicitly de

¹² Unless indicated otherwise, the equations pass the conventional tests.

	Czech Re- public	Hungary	Poland	Spain	Portugal
Constant	0.11 (0.37)	-2.04 (-3.00)	1.04 (0.77)	-4.11 (-4.16)	-2.76 (-2.86)
I—1	-0.12	-0.17*	-0.21	-0.45**	-0.23
l* —1	(–2.29) 0.01 (0.19)	(-3.00) 0.33 (3.02)	(–2.61) –0.07 (–0.31)	(–3.76) 0.67 (4.14)	(–2.41) 0.42 (2.86)
∆ I–1	0.35	(0.0-)	-0.13	···· ·/	(2.00)
-	(2.36)		(-1.04)		
∆ I*	0.04	0.39	-0.79	1.11	0.78
Trend	(0.15)	(4.60)	(-1.85) 0.01 (1.27)	(8.15)	5.14 0.002
Dummy			(1.37)	97:6	(-1.67)
JB	0.36	0.47	0.77	0.18	0.92
LM1	0.76	0.24	0.17	0.84	0.01**
LM4	0.07**	0.81	0.24	0.14	0.08*
White	0.31	0.87	0.02**	0.90	0.00***
R ²	0.14	0.41	0.27	0.62	0.41
Period	94:6-98:2	94:1-98:1	94:3-98:2	93:12-98:2	93:12-98:1

Table 7 — Cointegration of Stock Markets in Europe with the German Stock Market

I = domestic stock index in DM, I* = German stock index. See Table 5 for data sources. — A maximum lag length of four months has been allowed for $(\Delta - x, x = 1, ..., 4)$. — *(**,**) = significant at 1 (5, 10) percent level. Critical values were taken from Banerjee et al. (1992) for T=50. tvalues appear in parantheses. — Dummy variables are set equal to 1 in the month indicated. — JB = reports result of Jarque Bera test on normal distribution of the residuals (probability of not rejecting the hypothesis that the residuals follow a normal distribution); — LM1 and LM4 = report result of Lagrange Multipiler Tests on 1st and 4th order autocorrelation (probability of not rejecting the hypothesis that the residuals are noncorrelated); — White ereports result of White test on heteroscedasticity (probability of not rejecting the hypothesis that the residuals are homoscedastic)

rived the structure of an optimal portfolio, we cannot weigh these factors. It is also problematic to extrapolate market opportunities of the past into the future as structural breaks may occur. One such structural break is the introduction of the Euro. Because of the elimination of exchange rate risk between members of Euroland, we could expect some portfolio re-allocation towards eastern markets to the extent that investors wish to retain a certain currency diversification of their portfolios.

4. Enlargement, Investment, and Growth

Economic theory would predict that the integration of capital-rich and capital-poor countries and in particular the liberalization of capital flows would lead to higher investment and growth. Contrary to these expectations, however, the stylized facts of enlargement reveal that membership in the EU has not led to a significant sustained increase in capital imports, in the investment share of GDP, and in growth rates in new member states (Graphs 6, 7).



Graph 6 — GDP Growth 1970-1995

Source: IMF (1998b)

Graph 7 — Fixed Investment in Percent of GDP 1970-1996



Source: IMF (1998b)

While gross investment in fixed capital has generally increased after accession to the EU, it has not been sustained at this higher level. In Greece, gross investment hardly responded to EU membership, and an increase in the investment rate could only be observed after 1988. While Spain experienced a phase of investment-led growth in the years immediately following accession (Baldwin 1993: 137), the share of investment in GDP fell in the 1990s. In Portugal, fixed investment had already soared in the early 1980s in response to the increased capital inflows. In contrast to Spain, however, a decline in the investment rate in later years could be averted.

On average, the share of investment in GDP has not been higher in the years after accession to the EU than before and has even come down a little (Table 2). This implies that (at least) temporarily higher capital imports, i.e., foreign savings, have tended to substitute rather than to augment domestic savings. In a static sense, they would not have contributed to higher growth. Yet, this interpretation leaves the efficiency gains through foreign (direct) investment out of consideration: the same amount of investment in absolute terms may result in higher growth if foreign investors use the capital stock more efficiently. GDP-growth in the pre-accession periods has been about the same as in the post-accession period (Graph 6). This may indeed imply that the efficiency of investment has increased somewhat (because the same level of growth is achieved with lower investment). However, GDP growth is only a very rough proxy because it is affected also by a number of other variables (as, for example, the oil crises of the 1970s).

The difference between the national income and the EU average did not diminish continuously over time (Graph 8), let alone at an accelerated rate after membership in the European Union. Greece had already reached almost 63 percent of the EU average in 1973 and meandered around this value for more than 20 years – despite EU-membership in 1981 - before it could reduce the gap a bit further within the last five years. Spain enjoyed in 1975 already a higher GDP relative to the EU average than in 1997 - also despite EU-membership more than a decade ago. Portugal succeeded only in 1989 to surpass the GDP relative to the EU average it already had in 1973. Nevertheless, the economic development of Portugal since membership in 1986 allowed a continuous closing of the gap. One country which has managed to completely close the gap to the European mean within the last decade is Ireland. However, this cannot be attributed to EU membership. With a GDP per capita of 64 percent of the EU average in 1986, Ireland had been just a bit richer than at the 61 percent it had in 1960 – despite EU-membership since 1971.¹³



Graph 8 — Convergence in the European Union 1960-1997

Gross Domestic Product at current market prices per head of population as percentage of EU (15) average. Three year moving average. Purchasing Power Estimates. The EU(15) average includes since 1991 the data for the unified Germany. • Membership in the European Community, Ireland 1973, Greece 1981, Portugal and Spain 1986.

Source: European Commission (1997); own calculations.

Overall, the anticipated growth effects of EU-membership cannot be validated in a convincing manner by the empirical facts of the former enlargement of the European Union and the concomitant liberalization

¹³ Econometric tests did not reveal a significant, positive coefficient for an EUmembership dummy in regression equations for Greece, Portugal and Spain. GDP per capita as a percentage of the European average has been regressed on a time trend. Neither the change of the observed time period from 1960-1997 to the period 1970-1997 nor the inclusion of an additional German unification dummy led to significant, positive EU-membership dummies.

of capital flows. The fact that we are looking at only a relatively short time-span could be one explanation of this puzzle. If integration has only a gradual influence on growth and investment, its full effect may not be captured in the relatively short time series under consideration. Moreover, capital account liberalization and integration effects are only two factors which affect growth and investment. Rodrik (1997) particularly argues that a detailed analysis of the domestic investment climate is needed in order to assess the benefits of integration. Negative external shocks and adverse domestic policies have to some extent run counter to the positive integration effects. However, we have not captured these factors in our analysis.

Laaser (1997) essentially supports the latter hypothesis. He discusses the progress of the southern European countries for a set of essential criteria.¹⁴ Spain and Portugal confronted only with delay the challenges of integration and still suffer from some severe shortcomings in their policy environment. For example Spain still endures significant labor market rigidities and high unemployment and Portugal bears with considerable monopolies in the service sector. But both

¹⁴ These are the establishment of private ownership, opening up of all markets, securing competition, integration into the world economy, efficient distribution of macroeconomic responsibilities, balance of power and establishment of the rule of law.

countries attempted in the last years – under considerable adjustment costs – to reform the macroeconomic setting of their economies, which were marked by high national debt and inflation rates. Overall, Spain and Portugal were successful in reducing the gap of the living standards of their inhabitants to the European average. As for Greece, market forces have even been weakened since the beginning of EUmembership, and too much seems to have been expected from the financial transfers from the European budget. Greece failed to reform its policies and its economy and fell back in the relative income level. This failure of Greece to reform and the willingness of Portugal and Spain to adjust their economies has been underlined by the recent decision to include the latter two but not Greece into the group of Euro-countries.

A final explanation for the lack of significant positive integration effects is connected to the households' high rate of time preference (Piazolo 1997). If households are reluctant to accept deviations from a uniform pattern of consumption over time, they would try to smoothen consumption over time. An improvement in the economic setting (for example in terms of lower transaction costs due to lower uncertainty because of EU-membership) will lead to higher production and therefore to an expected future increase in consumption. If households are characterized by a high rate of time preference, consumption will be shifted from the future to the present, and investment financed by the domestic households will be low. Consequently, the income convergence with the average EU member will take a long time, although positive welfare effects through higher consumption will be felt already in the short run. Foreign investors will make use of the improved circumstances in the country, but this increase in savings might not be enough to compensate for the domestic move from investment to consumption.

The various strands of explanations point to different causes of missing or delaying the growth bonus of EU-membership and capital account liberalization, but the lack of adjustment of domestic policies and the shift from domestic investment to consumption are the most plausible explanations.

5. The Message for the Transition Economies

As regards the structure and volume of capital flows, the advanced transition economies under review and the southern members of the EU appear to be surprisingly similar. While the southern Europeans have attracted sizable capital inflows in the early 1990s which are not

54

necessarily linked to EU-membership but rather to the liberalization of capital flows within Europe, the transition economies have attracted substantial inflows of capital after starting the reform process. In particular with respect to FDI from Germany, the Czech Republic, Hungary, and Poland have surpassed southern Europe in recent years. With regard to the structure of FDI, the two groups of countries are closer to each other than to the EU-average.

The most important difference between the eastern and the southern Europeans is the lack of access to foreign portfolio capital of the former. As EU-membership requires further harmonization of financial market regulation and better market access of foreign financial institutions, this is likely to reverse. Differences in market opportunities and imperfect integration of stock and bond markets enhance the attractiveness of eastern European markets for Western investors. Just as Western investors can gain from increasing eastern Europe's share in their portfolios the transition economies can gain from being able to hold internationally diversified asset portfolios.

Membership in the European Union, participation in the Single Market, and the integration into the international capital markets can accelerate structural changes, foster economic growth and raise living standards. If, however, domestic economic policies hamper the necessary transformation within an economy, EU-membership alone cannot assure significant amelioration of the economic setting.

This is borne out by the stylized facts from southern enlargement. Spain and Portugal implemented consistent and comprehensive economic reforms only with delay, while Greece even failed to make significant progress well into the 1990s. Moreover, as domestic savings have at times been substituted rather than complemented by foreign savings, the positive impact of capital inflows on domestic investment has been dampened. Thus, (net) capital inflows have not increased immediately after EU-membership, increased investment has not been sustained, and initial growth effects have leveled off.

The transition countries in central and eastern Europe can profit from these experiences. Membership in the European Union can support growth-enhancing developments and might even accelerate the catching up with the west European neighbors, but it cannot by itself guarantee ongoing convergence. Sound domestic policies within the central and eastern European Countries to facilitate further transformation and permanent structural change are the *condito sine qua non* for rising living standards.

6. References

- Argimón, I., and J.M. Roldán (1994). Saving, investment and international capital mobility in EC countries. *European Economic Review* 38: 59-67.
- Bacchetta, P. (1996). Capital Controls and the Political Discount: The Spanish Experience in the Late 1980s. *Open economies review* 7: 349-369. London.
- Backé, P. (1996). Progress towards Convertibility in Central and Eastern Europe. Österreichische Nationalbank. *Focus on Transition* 1: 39-67.
- Bakker, A.F.P. (1994). The Liberalization of Capital Movements in Europe. The Monetary Committee and Financial Integration 1958-1994. Amsterdam.
- Balasubramanyam, V.N., et al. (1996). Foreign Direct Investment and Growth in EP and IS Countries. *The Economic Journal* 106 (January): 92-105.
- Baldwin, R. (1993), On the Measurement of Dynamic Effects of Integration, *Empirica* 20: 129-145.
- —, and R. Forslid (1996). Trade Liberalization & Endogenous Growth: A q-Theory Approach. Centre for European Policy Research. CEPR Discussion Paper 1397. London.
- Barro, R. J., and J. Lee (1996), International Measures of Schooling Years and Schooling Quality, *American Economic Review*, Papers and Proceedings 86 (2): 218-23. Dataset of "International Measures of Schooling Years and Schooling Quality" available at: http://www.worldbank.org/ html/prdmg/grthweb/datasets.htm.
- Barro, R.J., N.G. Mankiw, and X. Sala-i-Martin (1995), Capital Mobility in Neoclassical Models of Growth, *American Economic Review* 85: 103-115.
- Bartolini, L., and A. Drazen (1997). Capital-Account Liberalization as a Signal. American Economic Review 87: 138-154.
- Bertscheck, I. (1995). Product and Process Innovation as a Response to Increasing Imports and FDI. *Journal of Industrial Economics* 43: 341-357.
- Borges, A.M. (1990), Portuguese Banking in the Single European Market, in: J. Dermine (ed.), *European banking in the 1990s*, Oxford, 309-327.

- Borensztein, E., et al. (1994). How Does FDI Affect Economic Growth?. International Monetary Fund. IMF Working Paper 94/110. Washington DC. September.
- Brenton, P., F. Di Mauro and M. Lücke (1998). The Impact of EU Accession on FDI in Central and Eastern Europe: An Empirical Analysis. Mimeo.
- Buch, C.M. (1996). Creating efficient banking systems: theory and evidence from Eastern Europe. Kieler Studien, 277 (Tübingen, J.C.B. Mohr).
- Buch, C.M., and R.P. Heinrich (1997a). The End of the Czech Miracle? Currency Crisis Reveals Need for Institutional Reforms. Kiel Institute of World Economics. Discussion Paper, June, Kiel.
- —, (1997b). Financing the Transition Risks and Benefits of Integrating into the International Capital Market, Kiel Institute of World Economics. Working Paper 818, Kiel.
- —, —, and C. Pierdzioch (1998). The value of waiting Russia's integration into the international capital markets. Kiel Institute of World Economics. Working Paper 860, Kiel.
- ---, and S. Lapp (1998). The Euro -- No Big Bang for European Financial Markets. Paper presented at the 61st scientific meeting of ARGE. Bonn. May 14–15, 1998.
- Caminal, R., J. Gual, and X. Vives (1990). Competition in Spanish Banking, in: J. Dermine (ed.), *European banking in the 1990s*, Oxford, 261-305.
- Christodoulakis, N.M., and N.V. Karamouzis (1993). Financial Openness and the Effectiveness of Capital Controls in Greece. Centre for Economic Policy Research. CEPR Discussion Paper 804. London. July.
- Deutsche Bundesbank (1997). *Kapitalverflechtungen mit dem Ausland*. Statistische Sonderveröffentlichungen 10. Mai. Frankfurt am Main.
- (1998). Zahlungsbilanzstatistik. Statistisches Beiheft zum Monatsbericht der Deutschen Bundesbank 3 (on CD-rom). Frankfurt am Main.
- European Commission (1997). European Economy, Directorate-General For Economic and Financial Affairs, No. 64.
- Feldstein, M.S., and C. Horioka (1980). Domestic Saving and International Capital Flows. *The Economic Journal* 90: 314-329.
- Gibson, H.D., and E. Tsakalotos (1993). Testing a Flow Model of Capital Flight in Five European Countries, *The Manchester School of Econom*ics and Social Studies LXI: 144-166.

- Gros, D. (1993). Capital Controls and Capital Market Liberalization in Europe. In: Sung-hee, J., and Yoon-suh, K. (eds.). *Monetary Financial Policy Reforms: European Experiences and Alternatives for Korea.* Papers and Discussions from a Joint KDI/FES Conference. Part II/Experience of Financial Liberalization and Internationalization. Secul.
- Hansen, G. (1993) Quantitative Wirtschaftsforschung, München.
- IMF (1996). Exchange Arrangements and Exchange Restrictions. Annual Report. Washington D.C. Various issues
- (1998a). Balance of Payments Statistics Yearbook. January. Washington DC.
- (1998b). International Financial Statistics on CD-rom. Washington DC.
- Laaser, C. F. (1997). Ordnungspolitik und Strukturwandel im Integrationsprozeß. Das Beispiel Griechenlands, Portugals und Spaniens. Kiel Institute of World Economics. Kiel Studies 287. Tübingen.
- —, and K. Schrader (1994). Die baltischen Staaten auf dem Weg nach Europa – Lehren aus der Süderweiterung der EG. Kiel Institute of World Economics. Kiel Studies 264. Tübingen.
- Labán, R., and F. Larrain (1997). Can a Liberalization of Capital Outflows Increase Net Capital Inflows? *Journal of International Money and Finance* 16: 415-431.
- Lichtenberg, F.R. (1993). R&D Investment and International Productivity Differences. in: Horst Siebert (eds.). *Economic Growth in the World Economy*. 89-100. Tübingen.
- Linne, T. (1997). The Integration of the Central and East European Equity Markets into the International Capital Markets: A Cointegration Analysis. Institute for Economic Research Halle. December. mimeo.
- (1998). The Integration of the Central and East European Equity Markets into the International Capital Markets: A Kalman Filter Approach. Institute for Economic Research Halle. June. mimeo.
- Lucas, R.E. Jr. (1990). Why Doesn't Capital Flow from Rich to Poor Countries? *American Economic Review*, Papers and Proceedings 80: 92-96.
- Ötker, I., and C. Pazarbasioglu (1994). Exchange Market Pressures and Speculative Capital Flows. International Monetary Fund. IMF Working Paper 94/12. Washington DC. February.

- Piazolo, D. (1997). Gaining Credibility and Enhancing Economic Growth through Regional Integration: The Case for EU Membership of Eastern Europe. Kiel Institute of World Economics. Working Paper No. 837. Kiel.
- Rodrik, D. (1997). Comment on: Baldwin, R.E., J.F. Francois, and R. Portes, The costs and benefits of eastern enlargement: the impact on the EU and central Europe, *Economic Policy* 24: 170-173.
- World Bank (1996). World Development Report 1996 From Plan to Market. Washington DC.
- --- (1997). Socio-economic time series and retrieval system on CD-ROM (STARS). Washington DC.

Appendix

Table 5 — Monthly Bond and Equity Returns in Eastern and Western Europe 1994–1998

	Local currency			DMark			US-Dollar		
	Average return	Standard deviation	Correlation with Ger- many	Average return	Standard deviation	Correlation with Ger- many	Average return	Standard deviation	Correlation with US
			Sto	ck markets (1994:11998	:2)a			
Eastern Euro	pe								
Czech Rep.	0.80	5.79	0.27	-0.87	4.29	0.27	-1.28	6.20	-0.06
Hungary	2.42	11.9	0.46	1.07	12.49	0.58	0.94	11.04	0.31
Poland	-0.50	14.0	0.27	-1.26	14.40	0.33	-1.90	13.79	0.24
Western Eur	ope and US								
Germany	1.61	4.39	1.00	1.61	4.33	1.00	1.36	3.54	0.49
Portugal	1.98	5.31	0.65	1.76	5.24	0.65	1.63	4.27	0.36
Spain	2.29	5.41	0.60	2.21	5.80	0.61	1.86	4.78	0.38
United	1.91	3.05	0.62		· •••		1.91	3.05	1.00
States									
			Sto	ck markets (1996:1–1998.	:2)a			
Eastern Euro	pe				•				
Czech Rep.	0.13	5.64	0.05	0.18	7.08	0.06	-1.03	6.69	-0.20
Hungary	5.13	11.10	0.44	4.43	11.68	0.46	3.54	10.44	0.30
Poland	2.08	8.13	0.11	1.82	8.77	0.24	0.14	7.85	0.02
Western Eur	ope and US								
Germany	2.61	4.45	1.00	2.61	4.39	1.00	1.49	3.27	0.62
Portugal	4.19	5.39	0.75	3.90	5.22	0.73	2.99	3.91	0.46
Spain	4.08	6.19	0.56	4.04	6.12	0.51	2.78	5.52	0.37
United	2.27	3.61	0.76	•••		•••	2.27	3.72	1.00
States									
a)For the Cze	ech Republic,	index starts	in 1994:5. For	Hungary, ind	ex ends in 19	98:3.			

Table 5 continues ...

... Table 5 (continued)

	Local currency			D-Mark			US-Dollar		
	Average return	Standard deviation	Correlation with Ger- many	Average return	Standard deviation	Correlation with Ger- many	Average return	Standard deviation	Correlation with US
Bond markets (1996:1–1998:2)									
Eastern Euro	ppe								
Czech R.				1.15	3.05	0.31	0.21	3.36	-0.03
Hungary				1.10	1.14	0.26	0.15	1.77	-0.12
Poland	••••	•••		1.47	1.42	0.26	0.51	1.78	0.01
Western Eur	ope and US					×.			
Germany	0.36	0.29	1.00	0.36	0.29	1.00	-0.51	2.33	0.01
Spain	0.80	0.58	0.50	0.77	0.95	0.38	-0.07	2.14	0.10
United States	0.49	0.37	0.19			•••	0.49	0.37	1.00

Note to Table 5:

Monthly returns. Average returns = geometric averages. End of period. *Share indices* = Datastream total return indices for Germany, Poland, United States, Portugal and Spain; IFC total return indices for Czech Republic and Hungary. *Bond indices* = Deutsche Morgan Grenfell DMG EE total return indices for eastern Europe (maturity of debt instruments = 3 months), Datastream total return indices for 1-3 year T-bills otherwise. *Exchange rates* to the D-Mark = spot rates.